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When you present good possibilities to good  
people, they can do great things. 

POWERING POSSIBILITIES

2019 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
As of December 31, 2019 and the four preceding Fiscal Years

2019 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

MARGINS FOR INTEREST  
RATIO (MFIR)
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NET MARGIN 
Dollars in Millions

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

0

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

0

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

1.63
1.451.45

$25

$15

$20

$10

$5

0

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
19

$16.7

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

0

 

$600

$500

$300

$400

$200

$100

0

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
19

$523.2

 

$500

$400

$200

$300

$100

0

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
19

$362.3

 

$80

$70

$60

0

$50

$40

$30

$20

$10

20
18

20
17

20
16

20
15

20
19

$40.2

EQUITY 
Dollars in Millions
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ELECTRIC ENERGY 
REVENUES
Dollars in Millions
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CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS,  
& SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS  
Dollars in Millions
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TIMES INTEREST EARNED  
RATIO  (TIER)
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DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE  
RATIO (DSCR)
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Big Rivers Electric Corporation is 
a member-owned, not-for-profit, 
generation and transmission 
cooperative (G&T).

We provide wholesale electric power 
and shared services to three distribution 
cooperative Member-Owners across 
22 counties in western Kentucky. The 
Member-Owners are Jackson Purchase 
Energy Corporation, headquartered in 
Paducah; Kenergy Corp, headquartered 
in Henderson; and Meade County 
Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation, 
headquartered in Brandenburg. Together, 
the Member-Owners distribute retail 
electric power to more than 118,000 
homes, farms, and businesses. 

Incorporated in June of 1961, the 
mission of Big Rivers is to safely deliver 
competitive and reliable wholesale 
power and cost-effective shared services 
desired by the Member-Owners. Business 
operations revolve around seven core 
values: safety, excellence, integrity, 
teamwork, Member and community 
service, respect for the employee, and 
environmental consciousness. Big Rivers 
owns and operates 1,444 net MW of 
generating capacity from four power 
stations: Robert D. Green (454 MW), 
Robert A. Reid (130 MW idled in February 
2019), D.B. Wilson (417 MW), and Kenneth 
C. Coleman (443 MW, idled in May 2014). 

Total power capacity is 1,622 MW, 
including contracted capacity from the 
Southeastern Power Administration 
(SEPA). High-voltage electric power is 
delivered to the Member-Owners over  
a system of 1,297 miles of transmission 
lines and 24 substations owned by 
Big Rivers. Twenty-five transmission 
interconnections link our system with 
several surrounding utilities. 

Big Rivers is led by an experienced 
management team and is governed by 
a six-member board of directors. The 
board is comprised of two representatives 
from each Member-Owner. Big Rivers 
employs approximately 400 people at 
five locations in Kentucky, who actively 
contribute to the communities our 
Member-Owners serve. Continually 
focused on the needs and local priorities 
of our Member-Owners, Big Rivers 
provides shared services in areas such 
as information technology, mapping and 
planning, safety programs and training, 
economic development, environmental 
support, and member support services. 
As longstanding members of Touchstone 
Energy®, Big Rivers and the Member-
Owners pledge to serve western Kentucky 
with integrity, accountability, innovation 
and a commitment to community. Our 
priority has always been to keep the cost 
of electricity affordable and the reliability 
of service high.
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Sebree StationS

Wilson StationW

Coleman StationC

Energy Transmission & SubstationETS

Big Rivers Headquarters

Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation

Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative Corporation

Kenergy Corp

Today, the three Member-Owners of Big Rivers serve more than 118,000 
members in 22 western Kentucky counties.

MISSION: Big Rivers will safely deliver 

competitive and reliable wholesale power 

and cost-effective shared services desired 

by our Member-Owners.

VISION: Big Rivers will be viewed as one 

of the top G&Ts in the country and will 

provide services the Members desire in 

meeting future challenges.

VALUES:  

o	 Safety

o	 Excellence

o	 Integrity

o	 Teamwork

o	� Member-Owners and Community 

Service

o	 Respect for the Employee

o	 Environmentally Conscious

COMPANY INFORMATION
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This pursuit of safety, strategy, and 

strong financials drive today’s services 

and tomorrow’s planning for our three 

Member-Owners—Jackson Purchase 

Energy Corporation, Kenergy Corp, and 

Meade County Rural Electric Cooperative 

Corporation. Despite major hurdles faced 

in the company’s recent history, we are 

proud to report that 2019 was a year of 

even greater progress, with Big Rivers 

now meeting goals once deemed overly 

optimistic. These successes would not be 

possible without our people, who view 

every challenge as an opportunity to 

establish Big Rivers as a top Generation 

and Transmission Cooperative. 

Safety remains the leading principle in  

Big Rivers’ mission, and our safety 

culture is built from the support of every 

employee. This commitment to personal 

and coworker safety led us to one of  

our most decorated and successful safety 

years on record. 

Big Rivers qualified for its 49th 
Governor’s Safety Award in 
2019, further solidifying our 
position as the most decorated 
entity in Kentucky. 

The company was also recognized for its 

fourth consecutive Kentucky Employers’ 

Mutual Insurance (KEMI) Destiny Award 

in 2019, which honors a select group 

of organizations with strong workplace 

safety programs and low workers 

compensation rates. Big Rivers strives to 

be beyond average and compares our 

safety metrics to the highest performing 

G&Ts, and 2019’s low recordable incident 

rate puts us ahead of this already high 

standard. Above all, we measure success 

by the ability of each person to work 

and return home safely, which is why we 

celebrated all locations reaching three 

years without a lost-time incident in 2019. 

The makeup of Big Rivers’ workforce 

continued to transform in 2019, as 

the unprofitable power contract with 

Henderson Municipal Power & Light 

(HMP&L) ended and operations at Station 

Two ceased in February. While this 

contract termination led to a reduced 

number of jobs, a careful years-long plan 

of hiring freezes, attritions, and voluntary 

severances across all locations minimized 

the overall impact. Major changes are 

rarely easy and require adjustments from 

many people, but this transition stabilizes 

and strengthens the company’s future. 

Negotiations with HMP&L regarding 

decommissioning costs and outstanding 

fees are ongoing. However, Big Rivers 

remains dedicated to finding a resolution 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation 
is fueled by a desire to safely 
deliver competitive and reliable 
wholesale power. 

$44.5 MILLION
in net margins (pre-tier credit) for 
2019—the highest achievement 
of record in the past decade

MESSAGE FROM OUR CEO AND BOARD CHAIR
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and maximizing the economic potential 

of all our generation assets. Net margins 

for 2019 reached $44.5 million (before 

Station Two TIER credit), the highest 

achievement in the past decade. 

Combined with the fulfillment of other 

strategic goals, the steps taken in 2019 

bolster the financial standing of Big 

Rivers, as validated by the S&P ratings 

upgrade in January. Big Rivers is now 

looking forward, taking on a 15-year plan 

to reduce debt by $300 million and cut 

the annual interest cost in half. 

One of the most notable 
successes of 2019 came from 
the March announcement 
of Nucor Corporation’s plan 
to build a $1.35 billion steel 
plate manufacturing mill in the 
Meade County Rural Electric 
Cooperative Corporation  
service territory. 

This development represents a major 

achievement for our system and for the 

region, where Nucor expects to add 

approximately 400 jobs and make one of 

largest-ever single economic investments 

in Kentucky. In the months leading up 

to the announcement, Big Rivers and 

Meade County RECC employees worked 

with Nucor to determine the mill’s 

future location and develop innovative 

transmission and energy supply solutions 

to guarantee reliable power service 

within the needed time frame. In addition 

to the preparations for Nucor’s future 

load and a contract with Owensboro 

Municipal Utilities set to start in 2020, Big 

Rivers began delivery to more Nebraska 

entities and launched service to the 

Kentucky Municipal Energy Agency. 

These long-term power contracts have 

reduced Big Rivers’ reliance on short-

term energy hedging, and the company 

now stands in a position where our 

resources and load are balanced. Big 

Rivers has made incredible strides in 

reducing excess capacity, reaching and 

exceeding mitigation plan goals in just 

five years. The contract with Nucor also 

opens new opportunities to diversify Big 

Rivers’ portfolio, and the company is now 

evaluating contracts that would bring 

long-term solar power agreements to  

the system. 

The Big Rivers of today looks much 

different than it has in recent years, but 

we remain centered on our mission and 

vision. The company is moving boldly into 

the next decade, quickly adapting to the 

shifting environment and creating new 

solutions that establish Big Rivers as a 

leading utility. Our employees continue 

to prioritize safe power production and 

delivery, providing Big Rivers with a 

safety record that is second to none for 

the industry. The combined efforts of 

Big Rivers’ leadership and employees 

working together from multiple 

departments enhance our potential, 

leading to some of 2019’s largest 

financial accomplishments, pushing the 

reliability of our transmission system to 

new standards, and developing an even 

greater level of service to our Member-

Owners. When you present good 

possibilities to good people, they can 

do great things. Our company’s strength 

is our employees, and that is why we 

chose to incorporate the name of each 

employee on the cover of this year’s 

Annual Report. Big Rivers knows that our 

workforce is “Powering Possibilities,” 

serving as the catalyst for 2019’s 

successes and fostering ideas that will 

help us meet future challenges. 

Robert W. Berry 
President & CEO

Paul Edd Butler 
Chair, Board of Directors

Robert W. Berry 
President & CEO

Paul Edd Butler 
Chair, Board of Directors
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3 YEARS WITHOUT LOST-TIME INJURY WAS 
ACHIEVED BY ALL EMPLOYEES

RECORDABLE INCIDENT RATE 
Incident rate = # of incidents X 200,000/# of hours worked
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PEOPLE POWER POSSIBILITY

Encouraging an Employee-Driven Culture of  
Safety Excellence
Safety drives Big Rivers’ culture, which is built by the support of all employees who 
make a daily commitment to work safe for themselves and others. 2019 represented 
one of the most decorated safety achievement years on record, as Big Rivers 
continued to reach new milestones and celebrated three years without a lost-time 
injury. Big Rivers’ safety focus was further highlighted by the 4th consecutive Kentucky 
Employers’ Mutual Insurance (KEMI) Destiny Award and the 16th Governor’s Safety 
and Health Award earned by Wilson Station, bringing the company total for Governor’s 
Safety and Health Awards to 49. 

Big Rivers is never content to rest on safety. While this year’s accomplishments  
surpass national averages, the company will continue to evaluate safety programs  
for improvement and encourage employee support. 

In 2017, the Big Rivers safety group  
set out to improve our corporate safety 
program by emphasizing the benefits 
of employee involvement. The goal 
was to become more proactive by 
responding to employee-reported 
leading indicators instead of reacting 
following an incident. The ultimate  
goal is to prevent an incident before  
it occurs. 

TAKING A 
PROACTIVE 
APPROACH TO 
IMPROVING 
SAFETY

WHAT WAS POSSIBLE

4th consecutive 
Kentucky Employers’ 
Mutual Insurance 
Destiny Award. The 
award honors Kentucky 
companies for their 
commitment and 
success in maintaining 
a safe workplace. 

10 YEARS completed without a lost-time incident and 1 year without  
a recordable incident by Green Station employees 

3 YEARS completed without lost-time incident by Wilson Station employees

8 YEARS completed without a lost-time incident and 3 years without  
a recordable incident by Headquarters employees 

9 YEARS completed without a lost-time incident and 4 years without  
a recordable incident by Transmission employees
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400
EMPLOYEES AT FIVE 

LOCATIONS ACROSS 

KENTUCKY

49 GOVERNOR’S SAFETY 

AND HEALTH AWARDS 

More awards than any other 

entity in Kentucky

In the past, Big Rivers, as well as most other organizations, have relied on safety suggestions and near miss 
reporting as the primary method for employees to report potential hazards, in order to prevent incidents. In 
2018 Big Rivers implemented the “Good Catch” program. The program is designed to give employees a more 
user-friendly method of reporting safety concerns/suggestions/near misses, as well as expediting the process 
of responding to and taking action to address those concerns.

The Good Catch program allows 
employees to submit safety 
concerns electronically, without 
the use of paper forms. The Good 
Catch reports are automatically 
distributed across the company, 
while being retained in a database.

Employees quickly saw results 
regarding their Good Catch 
reports, and we immediately 
noticed a significant increase 
regarding employee participation 
in the programs.

In 2017, the year prior to 
implementing the Good Catch 
program, Big Rivers received 27 
near miss reports. In 2018, Big 
Rivers received 154 Good Catch 
reports and 388 Good Catch 
reports in 2019.

WHAT WAS ACHIEVED
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1,297

25

BIG RIVERS OWNS, OPERATES 

AND MAINTAINS 1,297 MILES 

OF TRANSMISSION LINES AND 

24 SUBSTATIONS

BIG RIVERS ACHIEVED LESS 

THAN 3 MINUTES PER YEAR IN 

AVERAGE MEMBER OUTAGE 

due to continued implementation 

of automatic restoration 

technology

INTERCONNECTIONS WITH 

SURROUNDING UTILITIES

Although a G&T cooperative has much 
greater risk exposure to power outages 
due to the lack of customer density 
compared to an investor owned utility or  
a municipal utility, Big Rivers’ vision was to 
achieve higher reliability than more than 
75% of utilities in the nation. 

In 2019, members served by Big Rivers’ transmission system enjoyed some 
of the highest reliability in the nation. The average member served by Big 
Rivers’ transmission system was out 2.77 minutes due to transmission issues. 
When you consider there are 525,600 minutes per year, that equates to 
99.999% reliability.

Big Rivers’ vision is to be one of 
the top G&Ts in the nation. In order 
to achieve this vision, Big Rivers 
needs to have some of the highest 
transmission system reliability in 
the nation. 

DEVELOPING 
TECHNOLOGY 
TO IMPROVE 
OUTAGE TIME

WHAT WAS POSSIBLE

WHAT WAS ACHIEVED

Big Rivers developed a database 
to identify the primary drivers 
of power outages and used that 
information to create a 10-year 
plan focused on immediate and 
long-range improvements that 
would allow the company to 
achieve continuous top quartile 
or better performance. 
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INNOVATION POWERS POSSIBILITY

Using Innovation to Enhance Service and Meet 
Evolving Power Needs 
Big Rivers continuously looks to develop and implement innovative improvements to 
both transmission and power production. In 2019, Big Rivers’ and our Member-Owner 
Meade County RECC’s reliable service took center stage during the process to bring a 
new NUCOR steel manufacturing mill to Brandenburg. Nucor’s $1.35 billion investment 
represents an exciting step forward for the local economy and a new type of load for 
Big Rivers. After meeting with Meade County RECC and Big Rivers personnel, the 
Big Rivers System Operations Department worked closely with Nucor to determine 
transmission solutions needed to power the 1.5 million-square-foot facility load. In 
addition, a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (CPCNs) was submitted to 
the Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), the construction schedule to meet 
Nucor’s projected in-service date was developed, right-of-way (ROW) was acquired 
to construct new substations and transmission, and financial plans were adjusted to 
include Nucor projects for future RUS funding. 

In May 2019, Big Rivers issued its first Request for Proposals for up to 150 MW of 
solar capacity and energy. The company received more than 50 proposals for solar 
developments from all over the Midwest, with many coming from Kentucky. Big Rivers 
plans to finalize contracts with successful respondents in early 2020, with commercial 
operation dates in late 2023. This new generation will provide low-cost capacity and 
energy for our Member-Owners while moving Big Rivers towards a more diversified 
generation portfolio. Big Rivers also developed an updated environmental strategy to 
comply with the Coal Combustion Residual Rule (CCR) and Effluent Limitation Guidelines 
(ELG), incorporating ash pond closures at Station Two, Green Station, and Coleman 
Station and leachate collection projects at the Green Landfill and Wilson Station. 

Big Rivers automatic sectionalizing 
and restoration system was one of 
the plan’s innovative initiatives. If a 
transmission line trips, the system 
will automatically isolate the faulted 
portion of the system and then 
automatically restore power to 
Members via another source in less 
than two minutes.

The distributed control system 
(DCS) or computerized control 
system graphics underwent an 
upgrade at Wilson Station in 
2019 to provide better operator 
awareness and alarming.

A 2019 Information Systems Department 
project developed a new browser interface 
to allow all tracked Big Rivers’ vehicles and 
member-owner vehicles to be shown on a 
single GIS map, providing a single point of 
reference for locating vehicles during events, 
such as energizing a line. 

Big Rivers successfully completed  
FERC and NERC audits on Cybersecurity 
compliance and a SERC audit on Engineering 
and Operations compliance.

EAF* EFOR** NCF*
BIG RIVERS’ 
GENERATING 
UNITS

88.22 6.29 74.06

PEER GROUP 
MEDIAN 82.05 6.36 57.49
TOP QUARTILE

87.54 3.63 64.75

RELIABILITY METRICS FOR BIG RIVERS’ GENERATING UNITS 
COMPARED TO ITS PEER GROUP JULY 2014-JUNE2019

EAF (Equivalent Availability 
Factor): Percentage of time 
a generating unit is available 
for power production at its full 
unit capacity. 

EFOR (Equivalent Forced 
Outage Rate): Percentage 
of time a generating unit is 
unexpectedly offline or unable 
to obtain its rated capacity.

NCF (Net Capacity Factor):  
Percentage of the maximum 
generation actually generated.

*Higher is better   **Lower is better
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STABILITY & PROGRESS POWER POSSIBILITY

Expanding Our Revenue Streams and Encouraging 
Financial Stability 
Big Rivers remains committed to improving its financial stability and positioning the 
company as a leading Generation and Transmission (G&T) cooperative. The strategic 
moves made during the past five years are coming to fruition, boosting current 
financials and providing future revenue streams. The 2019 Nucor announcement to 
construct a new steel manufacturing facility in the Big Rivers service territory and an 
upcoming contract with Owensboro Municipal Utilities open up the company to new 
power portfolio opportunities. Big Rivers also expanded on the long-term Nebraska 
contracts in January 2019 and launched service to the Kentucky Municipal Energy 
Agency in May 2019. As deliveries under these long-term agreements begin and Big 
Rivers adjusts its supply portfolio, reliance on short-term energy hedging continues  
to decrease from a high of 3.4M MWh in 2017 to under 2.0M MWh in 2019.

These successes have not been without difficult decisions. An unprofitable power 
production contract with Henderson Municipal Power and Light (HMP&L) ended with 
the retirement of Station Two in February 2019. Big Rivers utilized hiring freezes, 
attritions, and voluntary severances to limit overall job loss. The workforce reduction 
plan also resulted in the transfer of employees to positions at Green and Wilson 
Stations, which required careful coordination between supervision and additional 
training for transferred employees. The end of this operational agreement resulted  
in a significant savings for Big Rivers, leading to a record high net margin (pre-tier 
credit) of more than $44 million in 2019. 

Improved credit ratings represent Big 
Rivers’ dedication to strong financials, 
fulfillment of the risk mitigation plan, 
and successful management of long-
term power supply. S&P increased its 
rating for Big Rivers in 2019, following 
the upgrade from Moody’s and the 
investment grade rating from Fitch  
in 2018. The higher ratings open  
Big Rivers to new lending 
opportunities and lead to significant 
savings on borrowing.

In 2013 and 2014, Big Rivers lost 
the revenue from our two largest 
customers. We needed a strategy 
to protect the investment that our 
Members had made in our generating 
resources, maintain our financial 
health, and continue to provide safe, 
reliable, and economic energy. We 
developed a Load Mitigation Plan.

SECURING NEW 
CONTRACTS 
AND BALANCING 
OUR RESOURCES

WHAT WAS POSSIBLE
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$300M
DEBT REDUCTION PLAN OVER THE 

NEXT 15 YEARS. THE PLAN ALSO 

INCLUDES CUTTING THE ANNUAL 

INTEREST COST IN HALF

SHORT-TERM HEDGING 

DECREASED TO 2 MILLION MWH 

IN 2019, WITH 2020 FORECASTS 

FALLING BELOW 1 MILLION MWH

Big Rivers maintained its financial health during the five years after the loss of the large customer load, while 
rebalancing our supply portfolio with our demand, and executing several long-term agreements which will provide 
stable revenues and margins over the next decade.

To reduce the volatility of our 
revenues and margins while 
balancing our portfolio, we entered 
into short-term energy hedges for 
nearly 1.4M MWh between 2014 
and 2019. This smoothed the 
transition into our longer-term  
off-system sales contracts.

We made some tough decisions 
on the supply side, idling our 
Coleman and Reid 1 generating 
stations and exiting our power 
purchase agreement with the City 
of Henderson, Kentucky. These 
actions reduced the size of our 
resource portfolio by 695 MW  
of coal generation.

Between 2013 and 2016, we 
executed contracts with five 
different public power entities with 
terms between six and ten years, 
beginning between 2018 and 2020. 
In 2022, a new Nucor facility in 
Meade County will add 200 MW of 
load. Overall, our demand side will 
have grown by about 575 MW.

WHAT WAS ACHIEVED
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$333
THE AVERAGE UNITED WAY 

DONATION PER EMPLOYEE  

IN 2019 

52 CHARITIES AND 
COMMUNITY ORGANIZATIONS 
RECEIVED FINANCIAL SUPPORT 

FROM BIG RIVERS IN 2019

$196,256.40 
PLEDGED TO LOCAL UNITED 

WAY CHAPTERS BY BIG 

RIVERS AND ITS EMPLOYEES

Big Rivers was proud of its long record 
of supporting local agencies with 
financial support and an employee base 
that always encourages fundraising 
and donating efforts. While this giving 
provides a valuable funding source for 
community groups, Big Rivers and its 
employees desired a greater impact on 
the community. 

CREATING 
COMMUNITY 
PROJECTS OF 
IMPACT

WHAT WAS POSSIBLE
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COMMUNITIES POWER POSSIBILITY

Promoting Community Connections with Volunteer 
and Financial Support
Big Rivers strives to build a strong connection to the communities we serve. This is our 
home, and concern for the community is at the core of the cooperative way. Several 
Big Rivers employees serve on local economic development agency boards, offering 
their time and expertise to position western Kentucky as a prime location for business. 
The Director Legislative Affairs and Government Relations regularly visits with local  
and state-elected officials to communicate issues important to Big Rivers and its 
Member-Owners. In October 2019, Big Rivers and the Kentucky Coal Association 
hosted nearly 30 economic development professionals, judge executives, and 
legislators at Wilson Station for an open dialogue event and power plant tour. Big 
Rivers also looks to actively support agencies that strengthen our region, and the 
company invested more than $100,000 in 54 charities, foundations, volunteer 
fire departments, and economic development agencies in 2019. Our proudest 
accomplishment is an employee base that continues to go above and beyond to 
donate their time and resources to causes that make western Kentucky a better  
place to live and work. 

A centerpiece in our community giving each year is the employee-guided fundraising 
for local United Way chapters. In 2019, employees pledged to contribute more than 
$130,000 to the United Way, plus a 50% corporate match of more than $65,000. In 
2019, Big Rivers expanded the efforts leading up to the United Way fundraising kickoff 
events, launching an “Ultimate Giver” food drive contest and the first annual “Impact 
Week”. During this new week-long initiative, 30 employees split into teams to devote 
one day of service project work for four community agencies. As part of the 2019 
Beautify the Bluegrass campaign, employee volunteers completed landscaping for  
a new mini-park and created a mural for the town of Sebree.

The Beautify the Bluegrass campaign seeks to connect Kentucky’s electric cooperatives and local government on 
community beautification projects, with winning projects selected by the Governor and a public vote. Big Rivers 
and employee volunteers first joined the program in 2018, holding two cleanup and repair days for local parks. In 
2019, Big Rivers sought a project that would fill a significant revitalization need. The company and our employees 
collaborated with Webster County to landscape a new mini-park and create a mural for the town of Sebree, near 
where Big Rivers’ Sebree Station is located. 

Big Rivers reached out to the 
communities closely connected to 
company locations, asking local 
governments for beautification 
needs. Webster County asked for 
help in revitalizing a small corner 
of downtown Sebree to create a 
new mini-park.

Webster County developed the 
ideas, two citizens donated empty 
land and wall space, and Big 
Rivers brought the funding and 
labor. More than 20 Big Rivers 
employee volunteers provided 
their time and energy to design, 
paint, and landscape.

During three days in June 2019, the 
empty Sebree lot was transformed 
from open space to a landscaped 
corner and a postcard mural 
welcoming everyone to Webster 
County. The project was recognized 
and promoted statewide as one 
of four Beautify the Bluegrass 
campaign finalists.

$20,000 invested to support 
a KY Cabinet for Economic 
Development and KY Association 
for Economic Development 
initiative to improve the state’s 
industrial sites.

WHAT WAS ACHIEVED
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2019 2018 2017 2016 20154

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Operating Revenue:

Electric Energy Revenue $  $362,252 $ 366,190 $ 394,424 $ 390,357 $ 392,458

Other Operating Revenue and Income  16,475 14,015 12,805 12,233 11,091

Total Operating Revenue 378,727 380,205 407,229 402,590 $ 403,549

Operating Expenses:

Fuel for Electric Generation  119,831 128,555 126,644 144,148 146,179

Power Purchased  37,893 51,910 100,045 80,341 74,136

Operations (Excluding Fuel), Maintenance and Other  123,062 130,153 110,606 115,606 117,383

Depreciation  21,613 20,709 20,301 19,523 18,636

Regulatory Debit-TIER Credit 27,743 - - - -

Total Operating Expenses 330,142 331,327 357,596 359,618 356,334

Interest Expense and Other:

Interest  36,937 38,568 40,654 40,711 40,205

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) (28) (12) 7 (6,748) (77)

Other-net  696 717 744 846 464

Total Interest Expense and Other 37,605 39,273 41,405 34,809 40,592

Operating Margin 10,980 9,605 8,228 8,163 6,623

Non-Operating Margin 5,735 5,625 4,770 4,742 4,593

Net Margin $ 16,715 $ 15,230 $ 12,998 $ 12,905 $ 11,216

BALANCE SHEET

Total Utility Plant $ 2,098,129 $ 2,200,397 $ 2,179,899 $ 2,146,205 $ 2,133,820

Accumulated Depreciation  1,193,043 1,187,688 1,138,133 1,094,235 1,053,993

Net Utility Plant 905,086 1,012,709 1,041,766 1,051,970 1,079,827

Cash and Cash Equivalents  30,733 38,466 55,861 48,584 42,988

Restricted Cash-Construction Funds Trustee  353 - - - -

Short-Term Investments  9,437  9,607  9,223 5,913  7,883 

Reserve Account Investments1  1,391 691 391 312 24,335

Other Assets  402,213 301,413 292,507 270,810 248,094

Total Assets $  1,349,213 $ 1,362,886 $ 1,399,748 $ 1,377,589 $ 1,403,127

Equities $  523,164 $ 505,816 $ 490,887 $ 478,152 $ 464,661

Long-term Debt 2  733,942 761,464 801,162 813,829 826,132

Line of Credit – – 20,000 26,000 26,000

Regulatory Liabilities - Member Rate Mitigation  2,111 2,031 403 327 21,530

Asset Retirement Obligations  34,557 29,746 28,347 7,279 6,973

Other Liabilities and Deferred Credits  55,439 63,829 58,949 52,002 57,831

Total Liabilities and Equity $  1,349,213 $ 1,362,886 $ 1,399,748 $ 1,377,589 $ 1,403,127

ENERGY SALES (MWH)
Member Rural  2,261,069 2,366,988 2,209,836 2,330,007 2,325,653

Member Large Industrial  946,070 953,808 919,896 914,557 946,150

Other  2,879,231 3,101,659 4,291,555 4,414,268 4,181,748

Total Energy Sales (MWh)  6,086,370 6,422,455 7,421,287 7,658,832 7,453,551

SOURCES OF ENERGY (MWH)
Generated  4,964,983 5,291,136 5,034,777 5,828,106 5,809,344

Purchased  1,166,472 1,149,102 2,411,882 1,874,584 1,697,296

Losses and Net Interchange   (45,085)  (17,783)  (25,372)  (43,858)  (53,089)

Total Energy Available (MWh)  6,086,370 6,422,455 7,421,287 7,658,832 7,453,551

NET CAPACITY (MW)
Net Generating Capacity Owned 1,444 1,444 1,444 1,444 1,444

Rights to HMP&L Station Two  -   187 197 197 197

Other Net Capacity Available 178 178 178 178 178

Total Net Capacity (MW)  1,622 1,809 1,819 1,819 1,819

DEBT RATIOS
Margins for Interest Ratio (MFIR)  1.45   1.39    1.32   1.31    1.293

Times Interest Earned Ratio (TIER)  1.45  1.39  1.32  1.31  1.27 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR)  1.63 1.22 1.22 1.23 1.20

1�Includes investment income receivable. 2Includes current maturities of long-term obligations. 3Excludes impact of $906 non-recurring charge to income per Big Rivers’ Indenture. 4For 
year ended December 31, 2016, the Company made a voluntary change in accounting principle from one acceptable method to another. The accounting classification change was 
applied retrospectively to the year ended December 31, 2015.

As of December 31, 2019 and the Four Preceding Years (Dollars in Thousands)

FIVE-YEAR REVIEW



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon) 



Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Directors and Members 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation: 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Big Rivers Electric Corporation, which comprise the 

balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of operations, comprehensive 

income, equities, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and 

the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 

our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 

standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 

General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we 

express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Big Rivers Electric Corporation as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations 

and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019 in accordance with 

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

KPMG LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership and the U.S. member 
firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

KPMG LLP
Suite 2600
400 West Market Street
Louisville, KY 40202
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 15, 2020, on 

our consideration of Big Rivers Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 

its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The 

purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 

and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Big Rivers 

Electric Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 

an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Big Rivers Electric 

Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Louisville, Kentucky 

April 15, 2020 



3

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Balance Sheets

December 31, 2019 and 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets 2019 2018

Utility plant – net $ 905,086  1,012,709  

Restricted investments – Member rate mitigation 1,391  691  

Restricted investments – NRUCFC Capital Term Certificates 31,609  33,416  

Other deposits and investments – at cost 21,474  20,604  

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 30,733  38,466  

Restricted cash-construction funds trustee 353  —  

Short-term investments 9,437  9,607  

Accounts receivable 37,266  33,390  

Fuel inventory 26,965  25,028  

Nonfuel inventory 24,216  24,864  

Prepaid expenses and other assets 4,298  6,961  

Total current assets 133,268  138,316  

Deferred charges and other assets:

Regulatory assets 250,562  153,982  

Federal tax receivable 54  200  

Other 5,769  2,968  

Total deferred charges and other assets 256,385  157,150  

Total $ 1,349,213  1,362,886  

Equities and Liabilities

Capitalization:

Equities $ 523,164  505,816  

Long-term debt 706,269  734,969  

Total capitalization 1,229,433  1,240,785  

Current liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term obligations 27,673  26,495  

Purchased power payable 2,702  5,334  

Accounts payable 22,328  22,748  

Accrued expenses 9,054  11,915  

Accrued interest 3,279  3,533  

Total current liabilities 65,036  70,025  

Deferred credits and other:

Regulatory liabilities – member rate mitigation 2,111  2,031  

Asset retirement obligations 34,557  29,746  

Deferred credits and other 18,076  20,299  

Total deferred credits and other 54,744  52,076  

Commitments and contingencies (note 13)

Total $ 1,349,213  1,362,886  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Statements of Operations

Years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

(Dollars in thousands)

2019 2018 2017

Operating revenue $ 378,727  380,205  407,229  

Total operating revenue 378,727  380,205  407,229  

Operating expenses:

Operations:

Fuel for electric generation 119,831  128,555  126,644  

Power purchased and interchanged 37,893  51,910  100,045  

Production, excluding fuel 45,918  47,897  42,790  

Transmission and other 38,078  34,359  30,763  

Maintenance 39,066  47,897  37,053  

Depreciation and amortization 21,613  20,709  20,301  

Regulatory debit - TIER credit 27,743  —  —  

Total operating expenses 330,142  331,327  357,596  

Electric operating margin 48,585  48,878  49,633  

Interest expense and other:

Interest 36,937  38,568  40,654  

Income tax expense/(benefit) (28) (12) 7  

Other – net 696  717  744  

Total interest expense and other 37,605  39,273  41,405  

Operating margin 10,980  9,605  8,228  

Nonoperating margin:

Interest income and other 5,735  5,625  4,770  

Total nonoperating margin 5,735  5,625  4,770  

Net margin $ 16,715  15,230  12,998  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

(Dollars in thousands)

2019 2018 2017

Net margin $ 16,715  15,230  12,998  

Other comprehensive income (loss):

Defined-benefit plans:

Prior service cost (benefit) —  —  (1,077) 

Actuarial gain (loss) 1,506  (1,350) 1,938  

Amortization of loss 559  804  376  

Defined-benefit plans 2,065  (546) 1,237  

Postretirement benefits other than pensions:

Prior service cost (414) (138) (138) 

Actuarial gain (loss) (820) 413  (1,192) 

Amortization of (gain) (198) (30) (170) 

Postretirement benefits other than pensions (1,432) 245  (1,500) 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 633  (301) (263) 

Comprehensive income $ 17,348  14,929  12,735  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



6

BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Statements of Equities

Years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

(Dollars in thousands)

Other equities

Consumers’ Accumulated

Donated contributions other

Total Retained capital and to debt comprehensive

equities margin memberships service income/(loss)

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 478,152  473,802  764  3,681  (95) 

Net margin 12,998  12,998  —  —  —  

Pension and postretirement benefit plans (263) —  —  —  (263) 

Balance – December 31, 2017 490,887  486,800  764  3,681  (358) 

Net margin 15,230  15,230  —  —  —  

Pension and postretirement benefit plans (301) —  —  —  (301) 

Balance – December 31, 2018 505,816  502,030  764  3,681  (659) 

Net margin 16,715  16,715  —  —  —  

Pension and postretirement benefit plans 633  —  —  —  633  

Balance – December 31, 2019 $ 523,164  518,745  764  3,681  (26) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017

(Dollars in thousands)

2019 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net margin $ 16,715  15,230  12,998  

Adjustments to reconcile net margin to net cash provided by operating

activities:

Depreciation and amortization 21,664  24,365  24,394  

Interest compounded – RUS Series A Note —  26  56  

Interest compounded – RUS Series B Note 10,911  10,300  9,724  

Interest income compounded – RUS Cushion of Credit (advance

payments unapplied) (169) (120) —  

Noncash member rate mitigation revenue (15,578) (5,525) (4,292) 

Noncash regulatory debit – TIER credit 27,743  —  —  

Changes in certain assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (3,876) 13,007  (8,120) 

Inventories (1,289) 14,186  17,036  

Prepaid expenses and other 2,663  (1,621) 1,616  

Deferred charges (13,162) (3,239) 1,006  

Purchased power payable (2,632) 2,802  1,665  

Accounts payable 46  1,726  3,389  

Accrued expenses (3,115) 2,634  (930) 

Federal tax receivable —  —  (1,847) 

Other – net 15,113  2,494  10,842  

Net cash provided by operating activities 55,034  76,265  67,537  

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (23,281) (24,480) (23,361) 

Proceeds from restricted investments and deposits 21,655  1,097  —  

Purchases of restricted investments and other deposits and investments (22,462) —  (5,017) 

Proceeds of short-term investments 11,334  627  2,252  

Purchases of short-term investments (11,165) (1,011) (5,562) 

Net cash used in investing activities (23,919) (23,767) (31,688) 

Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal payments on long-term obligations (38,495) (93,488) (37,572) 

Proceeds from long-term obligations —  43,595  15,000  

Payments on line of credit —  (20,000) (26,000) 

Borrowing on line of credit —  —  20,000  

Net cash used in financing activities (38,495) (69,893) (28,572) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7,380) (17,395) 7,277  

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 38,466  55,861  48,584  

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $ 31,086  38,466  55,861  

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 26,487  28,957  31,380  

Cash paid for income taxes 2  1  1  

Supplemental schedule of non-cash financing and investing activities:

Change in regulatory assets associated with asset retirement obligations $ 2,897  5,294  23,408  

Change in regulatory assets associated with utility plant 83,616  26,417  26,336  

Purchases of utility plant in accounts payable 582  (1,236) 425  

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(1) Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) General Information 

Big Rivers Electric Corporation (“Big Rivers” or the “Company”), an electric generation and 

transmission cooperative, supplies wholesale power to its three member distribution cooperatives 

(Jackson Purchase Energy Corporation, Kenergy Corp. (“Kenergy”), and Meade County Rural Electric 

Cooperative Corporation) under all requirements contracts. Big Rivers also markets power to 

nonmember utilities, power marketers, and the Midcontinent Independent System Operator (“MISO”). 

The members provide electric power and energy to industrial, residential, and commercial customers 

located in portions of 22 western Kentucky counties. The wholesale power contracts with the members 

remain in effect until December 31, 2043. Rates to Big Rivers’ members are established by the 

Kentucky Public Service Commission (“KPSC”) and are subject to approval by the Rural Utilities 

Service (“RUS”). The financial statements of Big Rivers include the provisions of the Financial 

Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 980, Regulated 

Operations, and give recognition to the ratemaking and accounting practices of the KPSC and RUS. 

(b) Estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities. The estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying financial statements are 

based upon management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of the 

financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

(c) System of Accounts 

Big Rivers maintains its accounting records in accordance with the Uniform System of Accounts as 

prescribed by the RUS Bulletin 1767B-1, as adopted by the KPSC. These regulatory agencies retain 

authority and periodically issue orders on various accounting and ratemaking matters. Adjustments to 

RUS accounting have been made to make the financial statements consistent with generally accepted 

accounting principles in the United States of America. 

(d) Revenue Recognition 

Revenues generated from the Company’s wholesale power sales are based on month-end meter 

readings and are recognized as earned when electricity is delivered. Capacity revenues are recognized 

in the period in which the Company provides capacity to a counterparty. 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers (Topic 606) (ASU 2014-09). The main principle of the guidance is that an entity should 

recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to its customers in an amount 

that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 

services. ASU 2014-09 became effective for the Company for its annual reporting period beginning on 

January 1, 2019. The Company assessed the impact of adopting the guidance and determined there 

was no material effect. 
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(e) Utility Plant and Depreciation 

Utility plant is recorded at original cost, which includes the cost of contracted services, materials, labor, 

and overhead. In accordance with FASB ASC 835-20, Interest – Capitalization of Interest, the 

Company also includes capitalized interest on projects with an estimated total cost of $250 or more 

before consideration of such cost. The interest capitalized is determined by applying the effective rate 

of Big Rivers’ weighted average debt to the accumulated expenditures for qualifying projects included 

in construction in progress. Replacements of depreciable property units, except minor replacements, 

are charged to utility plant. 

Depreciation of utility plant in service is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated 

remaining service lives, as approved by the RUS and KPSC. During 2012, a depreciation study was 

completed to evaluate the remaining economic lives of the Company’s assets and establish new 

depreciation rates. The study was approved by the RUS in 2012 and by the KPSC in 2014, with the 

rates becoming effective February 1, 2014. The annual composite depreciation rates used to compute 

depreciation expense were as follows: 

Electric plant 0.35%–25.38%

Transmission plant 1.36%–2.29%

General plant 3.76%–9.88%

 

For 2019, 2018, and 2017, the average composite depreciation rates were 2.41%, 2.52%, and 2.45%, 

respectively. At the time plant is disposed of, the original cost plus cost of removal less salvage value 

of such plant is charged to accumulated depreciation, as required by the RUS. 

(f) Impairment Review of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived assets are reviewed as facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be 

impaired. FASB ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, requires the evaluation of impairment by 

comparing an asset’s carrying value to the estimated future cash flows the asset is expected to 

generate over its remaining life. If this evaluation were to conclude that the future cash flows were not 

sufficient to recover the carrying value of the asset, an impairment charge would be recorded based on 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and its fair value (less costs to sell for assets to be 

disposed of by sale) as a charge to net margin. 

(g) Asset Retirement Obligations 

FASB ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations – Asset Retirement Obligations, 

requires legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets to be recognized at fair 

value when incurred and capitalized as part of the related long-lived asset. The liability is accreted each 

period based on the credit-adjusted risk-free rate of return that existed when the liability, or portion 

thereof, was initially measured. The period accretion is recognized as an increase in the carrying 

amount of the liability, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. 

When the asset is retired, the entity settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs a gain or 

loss. 
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Big Rivers has recorded liabilities in its financial statements for asset retirement obligations (“AROs”) 

related to the requirements of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s (“EPA”) Disposal of Coal 

Combustion Residuals from Electric Utilities Rule (“CCR Final Rule”) and Effluent Limitations 

Guidelines Rule (“ELG Final Rule”) for the coal ash ponds located at its Green Station and the City of 

Henderson’s Station Two (“Station Two”) generating units. The CCR Final Rule was published in the 

Federal Register on April 17, 2015 and provides a comprehensive set of requirements for the safe 

disposal of CCRs, commonly known as coal ash, from coal-fired power plants. The ELG Final Rule was 

published in the Federal Register on November 3, 2015, and sets limits on the levels of toxic metals in 

wastewater that can be discharged from power plants. See Note 3 for further discussion of the 

Company’s AROs. 

(h) Inventory 

Inventories are carried at average cost and include coal, petroleum coke, lime, limestone, oil and gas 

used for electric generation, and materials and supplies used for utility operations. Purchased emission 

allowances are recorded in inventory at actual cost by each vintage year. Allowances issued by the 

EPA are recorded at zero cost by each vintage year. Total purchased and EPA issued allowances are 

carried in inventory at a weighted average cost by each vintage year. Issuances of allowances are 

accounted for on a vintage basis using a monthly weighted average cost. 

(i) Restricted Investments 

Certain investments are restricted under KPSC order to establish certain reserve funds for Member 

rate mitigation. The loan agreement with National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation 

(“CFC”) requires as a condition of the extension of credit, that an equity ownership position be 

established by all borrowers. Big River’s equity ownership in this organization is less than one percent.  

These equity investments do not have readily determinable fair values and are accounted for at cost 

minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly 

transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer. No impairment or observable 

price changes were recorded during 2019. 

(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Big Rivers considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 

less to be cash equivalents. 

(k) Restricted Cash 

Big Rivers has restricted cash related to proceeds from the sale of property as required by the RUS 

loan contract. 

(l) Short-Term Investments 

Short-term investments include certificates of deposits (CDs) held for investment and investments in 

debt securities with original maturities greater than three months and less than one year. 
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(m) Regulatory Assets and Liabilities 

FASB ASC 980-10 applies to regulated entities for which rates are designed to recover the costs of 

providing service. In accordance with this topic, certain items that would normally be reflected in the 

statement of operations are deferred on the balance sheet. Regulatory assets represent probable 

future revenues associated with certain incurred costs, which will be recovered from customers through 

the rate-making process. Regulatory assets are reduced during the period(s) in which the related costs 

are recovered through rates or when future recovery is no longer probable. Conversely, regulatory 

liabilities represent future reductions in revenues associated with amounts that are to be credited, or 

refunded, to members through the regulated rate-making process. Regulatory liabilities are reduced 

during the period(s) in which the related amounts are refunded to members through rates or when 

future refunding of the amounts is no longer probable. 

(n) Other Deposits and Investments 

Other deposits and investments consist primarily of patronage capital, cash collateral/margin call 

deposits, investments in associated organizations, and deferred compensation. 

(o) Income Taxes 

Big Rivers was formed as a tax-exempt cooperative organization as described in Internal Revenue 

Code Section 501(c)(12). To retain tax-exempt status under this section, at least 85% of Big Rivers’ 

annual income must be generated from transactions with the Company’s members. In 1983, sales to 

nonmembers resulted in Big Rivers failing to meet the 85% requirement. Until Big Rivers can meet the 

85% member income requirement, the Company will not be eligible for tax-exempt status and will be 

treated as a taxable cooperative. 

As a taxable cooperative, Big Rivers is entitled to exclude the amount of patronage allocations to 

members from taxable income. Income and expenses related to nonpatronage-sourced operations are 

taxable to Big Rivers. Big Rivers files a federal income tax return and certain state income tax returns. 

Under the provisions of FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, Big Rivers is required to record deferred tax 

assets and liabilities for temporary differences between amounts reported for financial reporting 

purposes and amounts reported for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

determined based upon these temporary differences using enacted tax rates for the year in which 

these differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax expense or benefit is based on the 

change in assets and liabilities from period to period, subject to an ongoing assessment of realization. 

Tax benefits associated with income tax positions taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return are 

recorded only when the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is satisfied and measured at the 

largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. 

(p) Patronage Capital 

As provided in the Company’s bylaws, Big Rivers accounts for each year’s patronage-sourced income, 

both operating and nonoperating, on a patronage basis. Notwithstanding any other provision of the 

bylaws, the amount to be allocated as patronage capital for a given year shall not be less than the 

greater of regular taxable patronage-sourced income or alternative minimum taxable 

patronage-sourced income. 
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(q) Derivatives 

Management has reviewed the requirements of FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and has 

determined that certain contracts the Company is party to may meet the definition of a derivative under 

FASB ASC 815. The Company has elected the Normal Purchase and Normal Sale exception for these 

contracts, and therefore, the contracts are not required to be recognized at fair value in the financial 

statements. 

(r) Fair Value Measurements 

FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be 

received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal, or most advantageous, 

market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date. ASC 820 establishes a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs 

used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs 

when possible. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows: 

 Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 – observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for 

similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and 

liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated 

by observable market data; and 

 Level 3 – unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are 

significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities, including certain pricing models, discounted 

cash flow methodologies, and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs. 

(s) Deferred Loan Costs 

The Company capitalizes costs incurred in connection with long-term debt. These costs are amortized 

on various bases over the term of the respective debt financing agreements. 

In accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03, deferred loan costs related to a 

recognized debt liability are presented on the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying 

amount of the related debt liability instead of being presented as an asset. 

(t) Deferred Credits and Other 

Deferred credits and other includes employee related benefits and capacity revenue sales billed but not 

yet earned. Employee related benefits include, but are not limited to, pension and post-retirement 

benefit costs and amounted to $16,403 and $17,013 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Deferred capacity revenue, which will be recognized within the next year, amounted to $1,673 and 

$2,878 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

(u) New Accounting Guidance 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02). The main 

principle of this revised accounting guidance requires that lessees recognize all leases (other than 

leases with a term of twelve months or less) on the balance sheet as lease liabilities, based upon the 
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present value of the lease payments, with corresponding right of use assets. ASU 2016-02 also makes 

targeted changes to other aspects of the current guidance, including the lease classification criteria and 

the lessor accounting model. The amendments in ASU 2016-02 will be effective for the Company for 

annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company is currently assessing the 

impact of adopting the guidance but does not believe it will have a material effect. 

(2) Utility Plant 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, utility plant is summarized as follows: 

2019 2018

Classified plant in service:

Production plant $ 1,713,576 1,822,536

Transmission plant 294,407 290,335

General plant 54,416 53,302

Other 67 292

2,062,466 2,166,465

Less accumulated depreciation 1,193,043 1,187,688

869,423 978,777

Construction in progress 35,663 33,932

Utility plant – net $ 905,086 1,012,709

 

Big Rivers’ secured long-term debt obligations and 2015 Syndicated Senior Secured Credit Agreement, as 

amended September 19, 2017, are secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture dated as of July 1, 2009, as 

supplemented and amended (the “Indenture”), between Big Rivers and U.S. Bank National Association, as 

trustee (the “Indenture Trustee”). Obligations are secured under the Indenture by a mortgage lien on 

substantially all of Big Rivers’ owned tangible, and certain intangible, properties including Big Rivers’ 

production, transmission, general, and other Utility Plant. See Note 4 for further discussion of Big Rivers’ 

Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations secured under its Indenture. 

Interest capitalized for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was $207 and $56, respectively. 

The Company has identified certain legal obligations, as defined in FASB ASC 410, Asset Retirement and 

Environmental Obligations, associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that require the recognition 

of a liability. See Note 3 for further discussion of the Company’s asset retirement obligations. 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had recorded an estimated $60,723 and $59,996, 

respectively, related to nonlegal removal costs included in accumulated depreciation as required by the 

RUS. 
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(3) Asset Retirement Obligations 

The Company has AROs arising from legal obligations associated with the retirements of certain long-lived 

assets. The liabilities were initially measured at fair value and subsequently adjusted for accretion expense 

and changes in estimated future cash flows. The corresponding asset retirement costs are capitalized as 

part of the carrying amount of the related long-lived assets and depreciated over their remaining useful 

lives. The following table presents the activity for the ARO liabilities for the years ended December 31, 

2019 and 2018: 

2019 2018

ARO balance at beginning of year $ 29,746 28,347

Changes in estimated timing or cost 3,418 (a) 0

Accretion expense 1,528 (b) 1,399 (b)

Actual costs incurred (135) 0

ARO balance at end of year $ 34,557 29,746

 

(a) During 2019, a study was completed by an independent engineering firm which provided updated 

settlement dates and cost estimates for the eventual closures of the ash ponds located at Big Rivers’ 

Green Station and Station Two, for compliance with federal regulations, including the EPA’s CCR Final 

Rule and ELG Final Rule, for which Big Rivers initially recognized ARO liabilities in 2015. The change 

in estimated settlement dates, as well as the updated present value of cost estimates, to close the 

Green Station and the Station Two ash ponds, per the 2019 studies, was higher than prior estimates 

completed by independent engineering firms during 2017. Accordingly, in 2019, Big Rivers recorded 

adjustments to its ARO liabilities to reflect the change in estimates. 

(b) The 2019 and 2018 annual ARO accretion expense of $1,528 and $1,399, respectively, was deferred 

and included in the Regulatory Assets amount reported on the Company’s balance sheet as of 

December 31, 2019 and 2018. These amounts will be amortized and recognized as expense during the 

period(s) in which they are recovered through rates. 

In 2020, Big Rivers anticipates that the EPA will pass legislation that may require Big Rivers to record a 

$48,500 ARO liability for Coleman Station’s ash ponds. 
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(4) Debt and Other Long-Term Obligations 

A detail of long-term debt at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

CFC Refinance Promissory Note, Series 2012B, serial note

pricing, 4.30% effective interest rate, final maturity

date of May 2032 $ 214,712  227,578  

RUS 2009 Series B Promissory Note, stated amount of

$245,530, no stated interest rate, 5.80% imputed interest

rate, maturing December 2023 195,027  184,117  

CoBank Promissory Note, Series 2012A, 4.30% fixed interest

rate, final maturity date of June 2032 171,442  181,271  

County of Ohio, Kentucky, promissory note, 6.0% fixed

interest rate, maturing in July 2031 83,300  83,300  

CFC Equity Note, Series 2012B, 5.35% fixed interest rate,

final maturity date of May 2032 32,229  33,998  

2018 RUS Guaranteed FFB Loan, W8, 2.828% fixed interest

rate, final maturity date of January 2033 25,228  25,630  

2018 RUS Guaranteed FFB Loan, X8, 2.935% fixed interest

rate, final maturity date of December 2043 17,836  17,965  

CFC Refinance Promissory Note, Series 2017B, 3.69% fixed

interest rate, final maturity date of October 2020 —  13,500  

Total long-term debt 739,774  767,359  

Less current maturities 27,673  26,495  

Less unamortized deferred debt issuance costs 2,343  2,575  

Less advance payments unapplied – RUS cushion of credit 3,489  3,320  

Total long-term debt – net of current maturities,

deferred debt issuance costs, and advance
payments $ 706,269  734,969  
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The following are scheduled maturities of long-term debt at December 31: 

Amount

Year:

2020 $ 27,673  

2021 28,281  

2022 30,073  

2023 226,414  

2024 33,393  

Thereafter 393,940  

Total $ 739,774  

 

(a) National Rural Utilities Cooperative Finance Corporation (CFC) Refinance and Equity 

Promissory Notes, 2012B 

In July 2012, Big Rivers issued new debt with CFC in the form of a secured term loan in the amount of 

$302,000 (the “Refinance Note”) and a CFC Equity Note in the amount of $43,156. The Refinance Note 

is secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture, dated July 1, 2009 between the Company and U.S. Bank 

National Association, and consists of twenty individual notes with different fixed interest rates ranging 

from 3.05% to 5.35%. The Refinance Note has an effective interest rate of 4.30% and a final maturity 

date of May 2032. 

The Equity Note has a fixed interest rate of 5.35% and a final maturity date of May 2032. The proceeds 

of the CFC Equity Note were used to purchase interest-bearing Capital Term Certificates (CTCs), as 

required in connection with the Refinance Note (Note 8). 

(b) RUS Notes 

On July 15, 2009, Big Rivers’ previous RUS debt was replaced with the RUS 2009 Promissory Note 

Series A (the “RUS Series A Note”) and the RUS 2009 Promissory Note Series B (the “RUS Series B 

Note”). 

In April 2018, Big Rivers prepaid the RUS Series A Note in full, using available general funds, when the 

total outstanding principal balance was $65,300. The RUS Series A Note had a stated interest rate of 

5.75%, was recorded at an imputed interest rate of 5.84%, and was secured under Big Rivers’ 

Indenture. The original maturity date of the RUS Series A Note was July 2021. 

The RUS Series B Note has no stated interest rate, is recorded at an imputed interest rate of 5.80%, 

and is secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture. The $245,530 stated amount of the RUS Series B Note is 

due December 2023. 
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(c) CoBank, ACB (CoBank) Promissory Note, Series 2012A 

In July 2012, Big Rivers issued new debt with CoBank in the form of a secured term loan in the amount 

of $235,000, which is secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture. The loan has a fixed interest rate of 4.30% 

and a final maturity date of June 2032. 

(d) Pollution Control Bonds 

In June 2010, the County of Ohio, Kentucky, issued $83,300 of Pollution Control Refunding Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2010A (“Series 2010A Bonds”), the proceeds of which are supported by a promissory 

note from Big Rivers, which bears the same interest rate as the bonds and is secured under Big Rivers’ 

Indenture. These bonds bear interest at a fixed rate of 6.00% and mature in July 2031. These bonds 

are subject to an optional redemption on or after July 15, 2020. Big Rivers plans to redeem and reissue 

these bonds in 2020. 

(e)  2018 RUS Guaranteed FFB Loan, W8 

In April 2018, Big Rivers received a $25,630 loan from the Federal Financing Bank (FFB) (the “W8 

Loan”) which is guaranteed by the RUS and secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture. The W8 Loan is for 

long-term financing of capital projects included in Big Rivers’ 2012 Environmental Compliance Plan 

(ECP) to comply with the EPA’s Mercury and Air Toxics Standards (MATS) rule. These capital projects 

were completed in 2016 and were originally funded with Big Rivers’ general funds. Accordingly, the 

proceeds of the W8 Loan were used to replenish Big Rivers’ general funds. The W8 Loan has a fixed 

interest rate of 2.828%, which includes a 0.125% RUS administration fee, and has a final maturity date 

of January 2033. 

(f) 2018 RUS Guaranteed FFB Loan, X8 

In April 2018, Big Rivers received a $17,965 loan from the FFB, (the “X8 Loan”) which is guaranteed by 

the RUS and secured under Big Rivers’ Indenture. The X8 Loan is for long-term financing of capital 

projects included in Big Rivers’ 2013-2015 Transmission Construction Work Plan, which were 

completed in 2017 and were originally funded with Big Rivers’ general funds. Accordingly, the proceeds 

of the X8 Loan were used to replenish Big Rivers’ general funds. The X8 Loan has a fixed interest rate 

of 2.935%, which includes a 0.125% RUS administration fee, and has a final maturity date of 

December 2043. 

(g) CFC Refinance Promissory Note, Series 2017B 

In October 2017, Big Rivers borrowed $15,000 from CFC at a fixed interest rate of 3.69%, the proceeds 

of which were used to prepay a portion of the RUS Series A Note. The CFC note was secured under 

Big Rivers’ Indenture and had a final maturity date of October 2020. Big Rivers prepaid the outstanding 

balance and associated interest and fees for the CFC note on December 20, 2019. 

(h) Line of Credit 

On March 5, 2015, Big Rivers entered into a $130,000 Syndicated Senior Secured Credit Agreement 

(the “2015 Agreement”) with CFC, CoBank, Fifth Third Bank, KeyBank National Association, and 

Regions Bank. In conjunction with the 2015 Agreement, Big Rivers issued secured promissory notes 
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(the “Series 2015A Notes”), equal to each lender’s commitment, which are secured under Big Rivers’ 

Indenture. 

On September 19, 2017, the 2015 Agreement was amended to, among other things, reduce the total 

facility amount from $130,000 to $100,000, and extend the maturity date from March 5, 2018 to 

September 18, 2020. 

Big Rivers is in the process of amending and extending the 2015 Agreement during 2020. The line of 

credit is expected to increase and a provision will be added for two, one-year, extensions. The closing 

for the line of credit is expected to occur in the second quarter of 2020, pending regulatory approval. 

As of December 31, 2019, Big Rivers had no outstanding borrowings under the 2015 Agreement and 

$7,579 in issued letters of credit outstanding, which reduced its available borrowing capacity under the 

2015 Agreement from $100,000 to $92,421. 

As of December 31, 2018, Big Rivers had no outstanding borrowings under the 2015 Agreement and 

$7,729 in issued letters of credit outstanding, which reduced its available borrowing capacity under the 

2015 Agreement from $100,000 to $92,271. 

(i) RUS Cushion of Credit 

In 2018, Big Rivers began participating in the cushion of credit program administered by the RUS in 

conjunction with the execution of the 2018 W8 and X8 RUS Guaranteed FFB Loans. Under the cushion 

of credit program, RUS borrowers may make voluntary irrevocable deposits into the cushion of credit 

account which, during 2019, accrued interest at an annual rate of 5.0%. Per the terms of the RUS’ 

commitment to guarantee Big Rivers’ W8 and X8 Loans, Big Rivers agreed to make an initial deposit of 

$3,200 to the cushion of credit account upon receipt of the loan funds and to make additional deposits, 

as needed, so that the balance at the beginning of each year going forward is equal to or greater than 

the annual payments due on the W8 and X8 Loans during the year. 

Big Rivers’ amounts in the cushion of credit account (deposits and accrued interest) may only be used 

to make scheduled principal and interest payments on the W8 and X8 Loans. As of December 31, 2019 

and 2018, Big Rivers’ balance in the RUS cushion of credit account was $3,489 and $3,320, 

respectively, which is included on the Company’s balance sheet as a reduction to long-term debt. 

(j) Covenants 

Big Rivers is in compliance with all debt covenants associated with both its long-term and short-term 

debt obligations. The Company’s Indenture and other debt agreements require that a Margins for 

Interest Ratio (MFIR) of at least 1.10 be maintained for each fiscal year. The 2015 Agreement requires 

that Big Rivers, throughout the duration of the agreement, maintain a minimum Members’ Equities 

balance at each fiscal quarter-end and year-end of $375,000 plus 50% of the Company’s cumulative 

positive net margins for each of the preceding fiscal years, beginning with the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2015. Big Rivers’ MFIR for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 was 1.45, and its 

Members’ Equities balance was $523,164. 
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An MFIR of less than 1.10, per the Indenture and other debt agreements, may result in the following 

actions, restrictions, or consequences: Big Rivers may not secure additional debt under the Indenture; 

the Company must seek rates that are reasonably expected to yield a 1.10 MFIR; the Company must 

provide a written plan satisfactory to the RUS setting forth actions to be taken to achieve the specified 

MFIR on a timely basis; an event of default may occur; interest rates may increase; and its line of credit 

may be terminated with an acceleration of any outstanding amounts becoming due immediately. 

In accordance with the Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract between Big Rivers and the United 

States of America (acting by and through the RUS Administrator), Big Rivers provided notification to 

the RUS Administrator, via letter dated February 7, 2013, of a failure to maintain two Credit Ratings of 

Investment Grade. In order to remain compliant under the Amended and Consolidated Loan Contract, 

in March 2013, the Company, prepared and presented to the RUS, its Corrective Action Plan setting 

forth the actions to be taken by management, that are reasonably expected to achieve two Credit 

Ratings of Investment Grade. The Company regularly updates the RUS on actions taken to date 

related to its Corrective Action Plan. 

(5) Rate Matters 

The rates charged to Big Rivers’ members consist of a demand charge per kilowatt (kW) and an energy 

charge per kilowatt-hour (kWh) consumed as approved by the KPSC. The rates include specific demand 

and energy charges for its members’ two classes of customers, the large industrial customers and the rural 

customers, under its jurisdiction. For the large industrial customers, the demand charge is generally based 

on each customer’s maximum demand during the current month. For the rural customers, the demand 

charge is based on Maximum Adjusted Net Local Load (as defined in Big Rivers’ tariff). 

The Company has certain KPSC approved tariff riders; including a fuel adjustment clause and an 

environmental surcharge. The net effect of these tariffs is recognized as revenue on a monthly basis with 

an offset to the regulatory liability – member rate mitigation described below. 

The net impact of the tariff riders to members’ rates is currently mitigated by a Member Rate Stability 

Mechanism (MRSM) that is held by Big Rivers as restricted investments. An offsetting regulatory liability – 

member rate mitigation reflects the obligation associated with the funding of these reserve accounts. As 

described below, Big Rivers has proposed certain changes to its MRSM. 

The KPSC entered an order on October 29, 2013, granting Big Rivers an annual revenue increase of 

$54,227, effective August 20, 2013 (Case No. 2012-00535). In its order, the KPSC excluded the Coleman 

plant depreciation from rate recovery. The KPSC directed the Company to defer this depreciation expense 

and record the deferred amounts in a regulatory asset account. The KPSC’s order indicated this action was 

being taken due to the planned temporary idling of Coleman, the length of time the plant will be idled, and 

the impact of the rate increase on customers. As of December 31, 2019, cumulative depreciation expense 

of $37,245 was deferred for the Coleman plant, which management believes is probable of recovery in 

future rates. 

The KPSC entered an order on April 25, 2014, granting Big Rivers an annual revenue increase of $36,160, 

effective February 1, 2014 (Case No. 2013-00199). In its order, the KPSC approved Big Rivers’ 2012 

Depreciation Study, but excluded Wilson plant depreciation from rate recovery. The KPSC directed the 
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Company to defer the Wilson depreciation expense and record in a regulatory asset account, similar to the 

Coleman depreciation expense deferral per the KPSC’s order in Case No. 2012-00535. As of 

December 31, 2019, cumulative depreciation expense of $120,544 was deferred for the Wilson plant, which 

management believes is probable of recovery in future rates. The KPSC also approved Big Rivers’ 

proposal to temporarily offset the rate increase by utilization of the MRSM. The KPSC further granted Big 

Rivers’ proposed accounting treatment for transmission revenues related to the Hawesville smelter but 

included the test year transmission revenues related to the Sebree smelter in the determination of Big 

Rivers’ revenue requirement. The net effect of this accounting treatment was the recognition of revenue on 

a monthly basis with an offset to the applicable regulatory liability accounts as the reserve funds were used 

to offset the impact of the base rate increase on the members’ monthly bills. Effective July 17, 2009, the 

KPSC approved the implementation of the Non-Fuel Adjustment Clause-Purchased Power Adjustment 

(Non-FAC PPA) which is a rate mechanism allowing Big Rivers to recover certain costs of purchased 

power that are not recoverable through its Fuel Adjustment Clause (FAC). An accrual is recorded monthly 

to a regulatory asset or liability account based on the difference between the actual purchased power costs 

recoverable through the Non-FAC PPA and the purchased power base cost included in base rates. The 

balance in the regulatory asset or liability account as of June 30 each year is billed or refunded to members 

during the following twelve-month period beginning September 1 through August 31 of the following year. 

The CCR Final Rule requires Big Rivers to address the eventual permanent closures of its coal ash ponds. 

Big Rivers believes it will face significant liabilities with respect to the treatment of the ash ponds at its 

Green Station and Station Two generating stations upon closure of the ash ponds. In accordance with 

FASB ASC 410-20, Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations – Asset Retirement Obligations and 

under the RUS Uniform System of Accounts, Big Rivers initially recognized its coal ash pond AROs at fair 

value and subsequently adjusted for accretion expense and changes in estimated costs as of 

December 31, 2019 (Note 3). 

On January 5, 2016, the KPSC issued an order in Case No. 2015-00333 approving Big Rivers’ request to 

establish regulatory assets for the deferral of certain expenses it would incur for compliance with the CCR 

Final Rule, including accretion and depreciation expense related to the AROs and other incremental 

expenses. As of December 31, 2019, the total amount of CCR-related expenses and costs for asset 

retirement obligations deferred and included in Regulatory Assets on the Company’s balance sheet was 

$21,103. 

On July 21, 2015, the KPSC issued an order in Case No. 2014-00134 approving the Nebraska Consortium 

contracts and the Stipulation and Recommendation (the “Stipulation”) between Big Rivers, the Office of the 

Attorney General, and the Kentucky Industrial Utility Customers (KIUC). The Stipulation stated that 

Nebraska margins would flow back to Big Rivers’ members through the MRSM tariff if, for the previous 

year, certain financial metrics were achieved. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Big Rivers did not 

meet these requirements. 

On August 29, 2018, the KPSC entered an order (Case No. 2018-00146) (i) finding that the Station Two 

units were no longer capable of the normal, continuous, reliable operation for the economically competitive 

production of electricity; (ii) finding that the Station Two contracts, except for the Joint Facilities Agreement, 

have therefore terminiated pursuant to their own terms; (iii) granting Big Rivers’ request for authority to 

continue to operate Station Two under terms of the Station Two contracts for a period up to May 31, 2019; 
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and (iv) reserving a ruling on Big Rivers’ request for authority to establish a Station Two regulatory asset. 

The remaining issues in this case were resolved with a Settlement Agreement between the Office of the 

Attorney General, the KIUC, and Big Rivers. The Settlement Agreement provided that the KPSC would 

approve the Station Two regulatory asset, that Big Rivers would establish a Station Two Depreciation 

Credit, starting in the month that Station Two is retired, to reduce customer bills based on the revenues Big 

Rivers would receive associated with depreciation expense on Station Two, that Big Rivers would establish 

a TIER Credit to reduce existing regulatory assets in the event Big Rivers achieves a TIER in excess of 

1.45 in 2019 or 2020, and that in Big Rivers’ next general rate case, the intervenors would support Big 

Rivers’ recovery of the Station Two, Wilson plant, and, conditionally, the Coleman plant regulatory assets. 

On October 23, 2018, the KPSC issued a final order approving the Settlement Agreement in full. RUS 

approved the Settlement Agreement on February 22, 2019. Big Rivers retired Station Two on January 31, 

2019. On February 26, 2019, Big Rivers filed revised tariff sheets with the KPSC to incorporate the Station 

Two Depreciation Credit. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the amount of Station Two assets 

transferred from utility plant to the Station Two regulatory asset was $84,936; the Station Two Depreciation 

Credit was $5,490; and Big Rivers’ TIER Credit was $27,743. 

On December 12, 2018, the KPSC approved Big Rivers’ request to phase out its existing Demand Side 

Management (DSM) programs, to establish a new Low-Income Weatherization Program, and to establish a 

regulatory liability for the savings associated with the phase out of the existing DSM programs. 
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In connection with the rate matters discussed above, the following tables provide a summary of Regulatory 

Assets and Liabilities reflected in the Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

Regulatory assets

2019 2018

Coleman plant deferred depreciation $ 37,245  31,418  

Wilson plant deferred depreciation 120,544  99,949  

Rate case expense and other 676  676  

Non-FAC PPA 8,313  8,293  

Asset retirement obligations 13,169  10,272  

Environmental costs (CCR) 7,934  1,068  

Station Two contract termination 90,424  2,306  

Subtotal regulatory assets $ 278,305  153,982  

TIER Credit (27,743) —  

Total regulatory assets $ 250,562  153,982  

Regulatory liabilities

2019 2018

Economic reserve-member rate mitigation $ 1,406  2,031  

Demand side management 705  —  

Total regulatory liabilities $ 2,111  2,031  

 

On February 7, 2020, Big Rivers filed an application with the KPSC for approval of Big Rivers’ 2020 

Environmental Compliance Plan (“2020 ECP”), which includes requests for authority to close the Green 

Station and Station Two ash ponds, to move the Coleman Station flue gas desulfurization system (FGD) to 

Wilson Station to replace Wilson’s FGD, and to complete several CCR-related projects. Big Rivers also 

requested authority to close the Coleman Station ash ponds should Big Rivers be required to do so in 

compliance with certain environmental regulations. The total capital cost of the projects included in the 

2020 ECP (including the Coleman ash ponds) is projected to be $232,340. In the 2020 ECP proceeding, 

Big Rivers is also requesting the authority to recover through its existing environmental surcharge tariff 

rider the costs of the 2020 ECP, including the costs of the new projects in the plan as well as the costs of 

Big Rivers’ existing CCR-related regulatory assets. The 2020 ECP case is pending. 

On February 28, 2020, Big Rivers filed an application with the KPSC seeking approval to cease the deferral 

of the Coleman and Wilson Station depreciation expense; to retire the Coleman Station and Reid Station 

Unit 1 subject to receiving the KPSC’s and RUS’ approval to establish regulatory assets for the remaining 

net book value of both stations and for other costs related to their retirement, including the cost to 

decommission the units; to cease deferring DSM-related savings through the DSM regulatory liability; to 

recover through existing rates the Coleman and Wilson depreciation-related regulatory assets, the Station 
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Two contract termination-related regulatory asset, and the Coleman and Reid Unit 1 retirement-related 

regulatory assets (collectively, the “Smelter Loss Mitigation Regulatory Assets”) by amortizing the balance 

of those assets (less the current balance of the DSM regulatory liability and 80% of the headroom Big 

Rivers has in equity over the minimum equity levels required by its loan covenants) over the remaining life 

of all-requirements contracts with its Members (i.e., through December 31, 2043). In addition, Big Rivers 

proposes a new TIER credit, and the modification of its MRSM tariff, under which one-half of the margins 

Big Rivers earns over the margins that would produce a 1.30 TIER is credited to Members and the other 

half is used to further reduce the balances of the Smelter Loss Mitigation Regulatory Assets. This case is 

pending. 

(6) Income Taxes  

At December 31, 2019, Big Rivers had a Non-Patron Net Operating Loss (NOL) Carryforward of 

approximately $30,467 expiring at various times between 2029 and 2039 which was entirely offset by a full 

valuation allowance. 

At December 31, 2019, the Company also had an Alternative Minimum Tax (AMT) Credit Carryforward of 

$107. The Company expects to claim a refund of AMT credit carryforwards of $54 on its 2019 federal tax 

return. 

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive Federal tax legislation commonly 

referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the ”Tax Act”). The Tax Act significantly modified the 

U.S. corporate income tax system by, among other things, reducing the corporate income tax rate from 

35% to 21% for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. The income tax effects of changes in tax 

laws are recognized in the period when enacted. In addition to the reduction to the corporate tax rate, the 

Tax Act also repealed AMT as well as IRC Section 168(k)(4). For tax years beginning in 2018, 2019, and 

2020, to the extent that AMT credit carryovers exceed regular tax liability (as reduced by certain other 

credits), 50% of the excess AMT credit carryovers are refundable. Any remaining AMT credits will be fully 

refundable in 2021. The Tax Act also requires deferred AMT refunds previously reported on the balance 

sheet in Other Deferred Charges to be reported as a long-term receivable. At December 31, 2019 and 

2018, Big Rivers reported $54 and $200, respectively, as Federal Tax Receivable. 
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The components of the net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

2019 2018

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforward $ 7,602  4,223  

Fixed asset basis difference 1,730  707  

Total deferred tax assets 9,332  4,930  

Deferred tax liabilities:

RUS Series B Note (3,343) (3,343) 

Bond refunding costs (62) (67) 

Total deferred tax liabilities (3,405) (3,410) 

Net deferred tax asset (prevaluation allowance) 5,927  1,520  

Valuation allowance (5,927) (1,520) 

Net deferred tax asset $ —  —  

 

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate for 2019, 2018, and 2017 is as follows: 

2019 2018 2017

Federal rate 21.0% 21.0% 35.0%

State rate – net of federal benefit 4.0 4.0 4.7

Permanent differences 0.5 0.3 0.4

Patronage allocation to members (25.4) (25.3) (40.2)

Alternative minimum tax credit recovery (0.3) (0.3) —

Effective tax rate (0.2)% (0.3)% (0.1)%

 

The Company files a federal income tax return, as well as certain state income tax returns. The years 

currently open for federal income tax examination are 2016 through 2018. The major state tax jurisdiction 

currently open for income tax examination is Kentucky for years 2015 through 2018. The Company has not 

recorded any unrecognized tax benefits or liabilities related to federal or state income taxes. 

The Company classifies tax-related interest and penalties as an operating expense on the statement of 

operations and accrued expenses on the balance sheet. No material tax-related interest or penalties have 

been recorded during 2019, 2018, or 2017. 
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(7) Pension Plans 

(a) Defined-Benefit Plans 

Big Rivers has a noncontributory defined-benefit pension plan covering substantially all employees who 

meet minimum age and service requirements and who were employed by the Company prior to the 

plan closure dates cited below. The plan provides benefits based on the participants’ years of service 

and the five highest consecutive years’ compensation during the last ten years of employment. Big 

Rivers’ policy is to fund such plan in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement 

Income Security Act of 1974. 

Prior to January 1, 2014, Big Rivers had two separate defined-benefit pension plans. The salaried 

employees’ defined-benefit plan was closed to new entrants effective January 1, 2008, and the 

bargaining employees’ defined-benefit plan was closed to new hires effective November 1, 2008. The 

Company simultaneously established base contribution accounts in the defined-contribution thrift and 

401(k) savings plans, which were renamed as the retirement savings plans. The base contribution 

account for an eligible employee, which is one who meets the minimum age and service requirements, 

but for whom membership in the defined-benefit plan is closed, is funded by employer contributions 

based on graduated percentages of the employee’s pay, depending on his or her age. 

In order to meet minimum participation requirements, Big Rivers’ salaried employees defined benefit 

plan was merged into the bargaining employees defined benefit plan. The merger was effective 

January 1, 2014 for purposes of Internal Revenue Code and effective December 31, 2014 for all other 

purposes. Effective January 1, 2017, participation was frozen in the merged plan for highly 

compensated employees in order to comply with IRS code section 401(a)(26). 

The Company has adopted FASB ASC 715, Compensation – Retirement Benefits, including the 

requirement to recognize the funded status of its pension plan and other postretirement plans (Note 11 

– Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions). ASC 715 defines the funded status of a 

defined-benefit pension plan as the fair value of its assets less its projected benefit obligation, which 

includes projected salary increases and defines the funded status of any other postretirement plan as 

the fair value of its assets less its accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. 

ASC 715 also requires an employer to measure the funded status of a plan as of the date of its 

year-end balance sheet and requires disclosure in the notes to the financial statements of certain 

additional information related to net periodic benefit costs for the next fiscal year. The Company’s 

pension and other postretirement benefit plans are measured as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
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The following provides an overview of the Company’s noncontributory defined-benefit pension plan. 

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its noncontributory defined-benefit pension plan 

at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Benefit obligation – beginning of period $ 20,962  22,176  

Service cost – benefits earned during the period 599  766  

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 834  762  

Benefits paid (2,233) (2,304) 

Actuarial loss (gain) 1,458  (438) 

Benefit obligation – end of period $ 21,620  20,962  

 

Big Rivers’ defined-benefit pension plan provides retirees and terminated employees with a lump-sum 

payment option. Benefits paid in 2019 include lump-sum payments totaling $2,193 – the result of five 

retirees or terminated employees electing the lump-sum payment option. Benefits paid in 2018 include 

lump-sum payments totaling $2,264 – the result of four retirees or terminated employees electing the 

lump-sum payment option. 

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined-benefit pension plan was $17,545 and $16,934 at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

A reconciliation of the Company’s pension plan assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Fair value of plan assets – beginning of period $ 18,973  19,851  

Employer contributions —  1,971  

Actual return on plan assets 4,158  (545) 

Benefits paid (2,233) (2,304) 

Fair value of plan assets – end of period $ 20,898  18,973  

 

The funded status of the Company’s pension plan at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Benefit obligation – end of period $ (21,620) (20,962) 

Fair value of plan assets – end of period 20,898  18,973  

Funded status $ (722) (1,989) 
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Components of net periodic pension costs for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 

were as follows: 

2019 2018 2017

Service cost $ 599  766  798  

Interest cost 834  762  801  

Expected return on plan assets (1,194) (1,243) (1,262) 

Amortization of prior service cost (33) (33) (33) 

Amortization of actuarial loss 325  304  409  

Settlement loss 268  533  —  

Net periodic benefit

cost $ 799  1,089  713  

 

A reconciliation of the pension plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Prior service cost $ 22  55  

Unamortized actuarial loss (2,617)  (4,716)  

Accumulated other comprehensive income $ (2,595)  (4,661)  

 

In 2020, $33 of prior service credit and $47 of actuarial loss is expected to be amortized to periodic 

pension benefit cost. 

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as 

follows: 

2019 2018

Prior service cost $ —  —  

Unamortized actuarial gain/(loss) (2,065) 546  

Other comprehensive (income)/loss $ (2,065) 546  

 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows: 

2019 2018

Deferred credits and other $ (722) (1,989) 

 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(Dollars in thousands) 

 28 (Continued) 

Assumptions used to develop the projected benefit obligation and determine the net periodic benefit 

cost were as follows: 

2019 2018 2017

Discount rate – projected benefit

obligation 2.99% 4.12% 3.44%

Discount rate – net periodic benefit

cost 4.12 3.44 3.80

Rates of increase in compensation

levels 4.00 4.00 4.00

Expected long-term rate of return on

assets 6.50 6.50 7.00

 

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic pension cost for each 

fiscal year is chosen by the Company from a best estimate range determined by applying anticipated 

long-term returns and long-term volatility for various asset categories to the target asset allocation of 

the plan. The expected long-term rate of return on assets is based on the median expected rate of 

return for a passively-managed portfolio plus the incremental return from active management. 

Big Rivers utilizes a third-party investment manager for the plan assets, and has communicated thereto 

the Company’s Retirement Plan Investment Policy, including a target asset allocation mix of 50% 

U.S. equities (an acceptable range of 45%–55%), 15% international equities (an acceptable range of 

10%–20%), and 35% fixed income (an acceptable range of 30%–40%). As of December 31, 2019 and 

2018, the investment allocation was 55% and 54%, respectively, in U.S. equities, 12% and 11%, 

respectively, in international equities, and 33% and 35%, respectively, in fixed income. The objective of 

the investment program seeks to (a) maximize return on investment, (b) minimize volatility, (c) minimize 

Company contributions, and (d) provide the employee benefit in accordance with the plan. The portfolio 

is well diversified and of high quality. The average quality of the fixed income investments must be “A” 

or better. The equity portfolio must also be of investment grade quality. The performance of the 

investment manager is reviewed semiannually. 
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At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of Big Rivers’ defined-benefit pension plan assets by 

asset category are as follows: 

December 31,

Level 1 Level 2 2019

Cash and money market $ 607  —  607  

Equity securities:

Common stock 8,792  —  8,792  

Preferred stock 538  —  538  

Mutual funds 5,183  —  5,183  

Fixed:

Tax exempt bonds and notes —  2,250  2,250  

Corporate bonds and notes —  3,528  3,528  

$ 15,120  5,778  20,898  

 

December 31,

Level 1 Level 2 2018

Cash and money market $ 932  —  932  

Equity securities:

Common stock 6,939  —  6,939  

Preferred stock 425  —  425  

Mutual funds 5,478  —  5,478  

Fixed:

Tax exempt bonds and notes —  2,426  2,426  

Corporate bonds and notes —  2,773  2,773  

$ 13,774  5,199  18,973  
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Expected retiree pension benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2019 are 

as follows: 

Amount

Year ending December 31:

2020 $ 1,099  

2021 1,785  

2022 1,584  

2023 1,729  

2024 2,412  

Thereafter 9,089  

Total $ 17,698  

 

(b) Defined-Contribution Plans 

Big Rivers has two defined-contribution retirement plans covering substantially all employees who meet 

minimum age and service requirements. Each plan has a thrift and 401(k) savings section allowing 

employees to contribute up to 75% of pay on a pretax and/or after-tax basis, with employer matching 

contributions equal to 60% of the first 6% contributed by the employee on a pretax basis. 

A base contribution retirement section was added and the plan name changed from Thrift and 

401(k) Savings to Retirement Savings, effective January 1, 2008, for the salaried plan and 

November 1, 2008, for the bargaining plan. The base contribution account is funded by employer 

contributions based on graduated percentages of pay, depending on the employee’s age. 

The Company’s expense under these plans was $4,749, $5,124, and $5,087 for the years ended 

December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 

(c) Deferred Compensation Plan 

Big Rivers sponsors a nonqualified deferred compensation plan for its eligible employees who are 

members of a select group of management or highly compensated employees. The purpose of the plan 

is to allow participants to receive contributions or make deferrals that they could not receive or make 

under the salaried employees qualified defined-contribution retirement savings plan (formerly, the thrift 

and 401(k) savings plan) as a result of nondiscrimination rules and other limitations applicable to the 

qualified plan under the Internal Revenue Code. The nonqualified plan also allows a participant to defer 

a percentage of his or her pay on a pretax basis. 

The nonqualified deferred compensation plan is unfunded, but the Company has chosen to finance its 

obligations under the plan, including any employee deferrals, through a rabbi trust. The trust assets 

remain a part of the Company’s general assets, subject to the claims of its creditors. The employer 

contribution for December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $156 and $136, respectively, and the deferred 

compensation expense for December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 was $248, $136, and $103, 

respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the trust asset was $895 and the deferred liability was $895. 
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(8) Restricted Investments 

The amortized costs and fair values (Level 1 measurement) of Big Rivers’ restricted investments held for 

Member rate mitigation at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

2019 2018

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

costs values costs values

Debt securities:

U.S. Treasury – Money Market $ 1,391  1,391  691  691  

Total $ 1,391  1,391  691  691  

 

There were no gross unrealized gains or losses on restricted investments at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

2019 2018

Gains Losses Gains Losses

Debt securities:

U.S. Treasury – Money Market $ —  —  —  —  

Total $ —  —  —  —  

 

Debt securities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 mature, according to their contractual terms, as follows 

(actual maturities may differ due to call or prepayment rights): 

2019 2018

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

costs values costs values

In one year or less $ 1,391  1,391  691  691  

Total $ 1,391  1,391  691  691  

 



BIG RIVERS ELECTRIC CORPORATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(Dollars in thousands) 

 32 (Continued) 

Gross unrealized losses on investments and the fair values of the related securities, aggregated by 

investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss 

position at December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

2019 2018

Less than 12 months Less than 12 months

Fair Fair

Losses values Losses values

Debt securities:

U.S. Treasury – Money Market $ —  1,391  —  691  

Total $ —  1,391  —  691  

 

None of the Company’s restricted investments held for Member rate mitigation were in an unrealized loss 

position as of December 31, 2019 or 2018. 

In conjunction with the CFC $302,000 secured term loan (Note 4), Big Rivers was required to invest in CFC 

CTCs equal to 14.29% of the Refinance Note. Proceeds of the Equity Note were used to purchase the 

investments in CTCs as required under the loan agreement. The interest rate on the CTCs is fixed at 

4.28% and is equal to 80% of the Equity Note rate of 5.35%. The CTCs cannot be traded in the market, 

and therefore, they do not have readily determinable fair values and are accounted for at cost minus 

impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions 

for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer.. The Company’s investment in these CTCs at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $31,609 and $33,416, respectively. 

(9) Short-Term Investments 

At December 31, 2019, the Company’s short-term investments included $5,022 of investments in debt 

securities and $4,415 of investments in certificates of deposits (CDs), which are both included in the 

Company’s balance sheet at amortized cost. At December 31, 2018, the Company’s short-term 

investments included $4,987 of investments in debt securities and $4,620 of investments in CDs, which are 

both included in the Company’s balance sheet at amortized cost. The investments in debt securities are 

classified as held-to-maturity, based on management’s intent and ability to hold them to maturity. Both CDs 

and investments in debt securities are included in “Cash and Cash Equivalents” (if the orginal maturity date 

is less than or equal to three months) or “Short-term-Iinvestments” (if the original maturity date is greater 

than three months but less than one year). 
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The amortized costs and fair values (Level 1 measurement) of Big Rivers’ short-term investments at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018, were as follows: 

2019 2018

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

costs values costs values

Debt securities:

Corporate notes $ 1,223  1,226  1,215  1,219  

U.S. Treasuries 3,799  3,812  3,390  3,408  

U.S. Government agency —  —  382  384  

Total debt securities 5,022  5,038  4,987  5,011  

Other:

Certificates of deposit 4,415  4,423  4,620  4,615  

Total short-term
investments $ 9,437  9,461  9,607  9,626  

 

Gross unrealized gains and losses on short-term investments at December 31, 2019 and 2018, were as 

follows: 

2019 2018

Gains Losses Gains Losses

Debt securities:

Corporate notes $ 3  —  4  —  

U.S. Treasuries 13  —  18  —  

U.S. government agency —  —  2  —  

Total debt securities 16  —  24  —  

Other:

  Certificates of deposit 8  —  —  (5) 

Total short-term
investments $ 24  —  24  (5) 

 

(10) Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 

FASB ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands 

disclosures about fair value measures. It applies under other accounting standards that require or permit 

fair value measurements and does not require any new fair value measurements. 

The carrying value of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their short 

maturity. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents included short-term 
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investments in an institutional U.S. government money market portfolio account classified as trading 

securities under ASC 320, Investments – Debt and Equity Securities, that were recorded at fair value which 

was determined using quoted market prices for identical assets without regard to valuation adjustment or 

block discount (a Level 1 measure), as follows: 

2019 2018

Institutional U.S. government money market portfolio $ 28,744  35,606  

 

It was not practical to estimate the fair value of patronage capital included within other deposits and 

investments due to these being untraded companies. 

Big Rivers’ long-term debt at December 31, 2019, consisted of CFC notes totaling $246,941, a CoBank 

note in the amount of $171,442, an RUS note totaling $195,027, RUS guaranteed FFB loans totaling 

$43,064, and fixed-rate pollution control bonds in the amount of $83,300 (Note 4). The CFC, CoBank, RUS 

and FFB debt cannot be traded in the market, and therefore, a value other than their outstanding principal 

amounts cannot be determined. At December 31, 2019, the fair value of Big Rivers’ fixed-rate 

Series 2010A Bonds, was determined based on quoted prices available for the most recent trades of those 

bonds occurring in the dealer market on or near the balance sheet date (Level 1 measure) and totaled 

$84,341. 

(11) Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions 

Big Rivers provides certain postretirement medical benefits for retired employees and their spouses. 

Generally, except for generation bargaining retirees, Big Rivers pays 85% of the premium cost for all 

retirees age 62 to 65. The Company pays 25% of the premium cost for spouses age 55 to 61. Beginning at 

age 65, the Company pays 25% of the premium cost if the retiree is enrolled in Medicare Part B. For each 

generation bargaining retiree, Big Rivers establishes a retiree medical account at retirement equal to $1.25 

per year of service up to 30 years. The account balance is credited with interest based on the 10-year 

treasury rate subject to a minimum of 4% and a maximum of 7%. The account is to be used for the sole 

purpose of paying the premium cost for the retiree and spouse. 

The discount rates used in computing the postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic benefit cost 

were as follows: 

2019 2018 2017

Discount rate – projected benefit obligation 3.34% 4.34% 3.66%

Discount rate – net periodic benefit cost 4.34 3.66 4.21
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The healthcare cost trend rate assumptions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

2019 2018

Initial trend rate 5.98% 6.24%

Ultimate trend rate 4.50 4.50

Year ultimate trend is reached 2038 2038

 

A one-percentage-point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects: 

2019 2018

One-percentage-point decrease:

Effect on total service and interest cost components $ (113) (136) 

Effect on year-end benefit obligation (1,321) (1,265) 

One-percentage-point increase:

Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 143  175  

Effect on year-end benefit obligation 1,654  1,553  

 

A reconciliation of the Company’s benefit obligations of its postretirement plan at December 31, 2019 and 

2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Benefit obligation – beginning of period $ 13,892  14,348  

Service cost – benefits earned during the period 447  551  

Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 544  530  

Participant contributions 369  288  

Plan amendments 227  —  

Plan curtailments 98  —  

Special termination benefits 204  —  

Benefits paid (1,829)   (1,412)  

Actuarial loss (gain) 722    (413)  

Benefit obligation – end of period $ 14,674  13,892  
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Big Rivers revised the eligibility requirements for postretirement medical with regard to age and service. 

Beginning January 1, 2013, eligibility for retirement is age 62 with 10 years of service. The service 

requirement is waived for active employees on December 31, 2012 who will not have 10 years of service at 

age 62. A reconciliation of the Company’s postretirement plan assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as 

follows: 

2019 2018

Fair value of plan assets – beginning of period $ —  —  

Employer contributions 1,460  1,124  

Participant contributions 369  288  

Benefits paid (1,829) (1,412) 

Fair value of plan assets – end of period $ —  —  

 

The funded status of the Company’s postretirement plan at December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Benefit obligation – end of period $ (14,674) (13,892) 

Fair value of plan assets – end of period —  —  

Funded status $ (14,674) (13,892) 

 

The components of net periodic postretirement benefit costs for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

2018, and 2017 were as follows: 

2019 2018 2017

Service cost $ 447  551  475  

Interest cost 544  530  551  

Amortization of prior service cost (138) (138) (138) 

Amortization of gain (198) (30) (170) 

Curtailment recognized (49) —  —  

Special termination benefits 204  —  —  

Net periodic benefit cost $ 810  913  718  
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A reconciliation of the postretirement plan amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income at 

December 31, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

2019 2018

Prior service credit $ 605  1,018  

Unamortized actuarial gain 1,963  2,981  

Accumulated other comprehensive income $ 2,568  3,999  

 

In 2020, $112 of prior service cost and $37 of actuarial gain is expected to be amortized to periodic benefit 

cost. 

The recognized adjustments to other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as 

follows: 

2019 2018

Prior service cost $ (414) (138) 

Unamortized actuarial gain (loss) (820) 413  

Amortization of net gain (198) (30) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) $ (1,432) 245  

 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, amounts recognized in the balance sheets were as follows: 

2019 2018

Accounts payable $ (1,445) (1,151) 

Deferred credits and other (13,229) (12,741) 

Net amount recognized $ (14,674) (13,892) 
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Expected retiree benefit payments projected to be required during the years following 2019 are as follows: 

Amount

Year:

2020 $ 1,445  

2021 1,281  

2022 1,169  

2023 1,042  

2024 944  

Thereafter 4,292  

Total $ 10,173  

 

In addition to the postretirement plan discussed above, Big Rivers has another postretirement benefit plan, 

which vests a portion of accrued sick leave benefits to salaried employees upon retirement or death. To the 

extent an employee’s sick leave hour balance exceeds 480 hours, such excess hours are paid at 20% of 

the employee’s base hourly rate at the time of retirement or death. The accumulated obligation recorded for 

the postretirement sick leave benefit is $676 and $682 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The 

postretirement expense recorded was $61, $72, and $83, for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, and the 

benefits paid were $67, $21, and $5 for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. 

(12) Related Parties 

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, Big Rivers had tariff sales to its members of 

$256,280, $263,792, and $248,389, respectively. In addition, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 

2018, and 2017, Big Rivers had certain sales to Kenergy for the Domtar Paper Co. load of $4,182, $3,833, 

and $2,336, respectively. 

At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Big Rivers had accounts receivable from its members of $20,903 and 

$21,826, respectively. 

(13) Commitments and Contingencies 

Big Rivers is involved in ongoing litigation with the City of Henderson and the City of Henderson Utility 

Commission doing business as Henderson Municipal Power and Light (collectively, “HMP&L”) in which Big 

Rivers is seeking damages from HMP&L relating to HMP&L’s refusal to pay the costs associated with 

Excess Henderson Energy produced at Station Two. In December 2017, Big Rivers and HMP&L entered 

into an agreement to settle all claims relating to Excess Henderson Energy. Under the settlement 

agreement, HMP&L agreed to be responsible for all costs related to Excess Henderson Energy generated 

after the effective date of the settlement agreement. Big Rivers has filed a claim against HMP&L for those 

costs, and HMP&L has filed a counterclaim alleging that if HMP&L is required to pay the costs of the 

Excess Henderson Energy, it is entitled to an offset for the revenues related to that energy. Big Rivers does 

not dispute that HMP&L is entitled to the Excess Henderson Energy-related revenues if it pays the costs of 

that energy. 
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On May 1, 2018, the contracts under which Big Rivers was operating Station Two terminated as a result of 

the Station Two units no longer being capable of the economically competitive production of electricity 

(Note 5). To allow HMP&L time to make alternate arrangements for its power supply, Big Rivers continued 

to operate the units under the terms of the Station Two contracts until the units were retired on January 31, 

2019. The termination of the Station Two contracts has given rise to disputes between the parties, including 

a declaratory judgment action HMP&L has filed relating to the interpretation of the deed to the real estate 

on which the Station Two units were constructed, a claim HMP&L has filed seeking amounts HMP&L 

claims it is owed as a result of the annual budget settlement process that occurred during the term of the 

Station Two contracts, and a proceeding Big Rivers filed with the KPSC to resolve all outstanding disputes 

between it and HMP&L. The Company believes there will be no material adverse effect to its financial 

statements when the litigation and disputes with HMP&L are resolved. 

Big Rivers is involved in other litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the results of such 

litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, management, based upon advice of counsel, believes that the 

final outcome will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements. 

(14) Subsequent Events 

See Note 4(d) relating to the pollution control bonds. 

See Note 4(h) relating to the amendment and extension of the line of credit. 

See Note 5 relating to Case No. 2020-00064, Application of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for Approval to 

Modify its MRSM Tariff, Cease Deferring Depreciation Expenses, Establish Regulatory Assets, Amortize 

Regulatory Assets, and Other Appropriate Relief, which Big Rivers anticipates will begin in part in 

December 2020 and in full beginning January 2021, filed with the KPSC on February 28, 2020. 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the novel strain of the coronavirus (COVID-19) a 

global pandemic and recommended containment and mitigation measures worldwide. As of the date of this 

filing, the Company does not expect the COVID-19 disruption to materially impact its 2020 results of 

operations or financial position. However, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the overall length or 

severity of this pandemic, or the extent to which a prolonged disruption may impact the Company’s 

financial position or results of operations beyond 2020. 

Management evaluated subsequent events up to and including April 15, 2020, the date the financial 

statements were available to be issued. 
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